

UNIVERSITÀ DEGLI STUDI DI ROMA "LA SAPIENZA"

Department of Cellular Biotechnology and Hematology

Ph.D. program: "HUMAN BIOLOGY AND GENETICS" XXI cycle

MiR-146a and ADAPTIVE IMMUNITY:

A Novel Player in the Regulation of Normal Immune function and Inflammation

Candidate: GRAZIELLA CURTALE

Scientific Tutor:

Prof. Giuseppe Macino, "La Sapienza" University of Rome

Director of doctoral program:

Prof. Paola Londei, "La Sapienza" University of Rome

Board of examiners:

Prof. Ciafrè S.A. University of Rome "Tor Vergata" Prof. Santoni A. " La Sapienza" University of Rome Prof. Sette C. University of Rome "Tor Vergata

Academic year 2007-08

Contents

- ABSTRACT4
- INTRODUCTION
MicroRNAs: NEW KEY MODULATORS OF CELLULAR PROCESSES
• MicroRNAs in haematopoiesis and in the immune response9
• T LYMPHOCYTE ACTIVATION11
• Regulation of cytokines signalling and inflammation14
• MiR-146 and Inflammation16
Activation-Induced Cell Death (AICD) in T cells17
• FADD adaptor protein in apoptosis and beyond19
• Apoptosis-regulating miRNAs: the "ApoptomiRs"21
- MATERIALS AND METHODS23
- RESULTS:
• MiR-146 is up-regulated in activated primary T cells29
• MiR-146a is differentially up-regulated in various stimulation conditions in Jurkat T cells
• MiR-146a is expressed in response to TNF-α inflammatory stimulus, but not in IFN-α stimulation condition32
• Pharmacological approaches indicate TCR signalling pathways affecting miR-146a expression

- SUPPLEMENTAL DATA	53
- DISCUSSION	50
• MiR-146a affects AP-1 activity as revealed by a luciferase reporter vector	49
• MiR-146a over-expression attenuates AICD in Jurkat cells	46
• MAD-4, FADD and c-FOS are directly targeted by miR-146a.	.42
• Site-directed mutagenesis demonstrates that TCR and TNFα stimulation modulate miR-146a expression through partially overlapping mechanisms	39
• Analysis of miR-146a promoter region upon TCR stimulation and TNF-α treatment by luciferase assay	37.

Abstract

MicroRNAs (miRNAs) have been shown to affect haematopoietic differentiation, acting as important determinants of cellular fate specification.

The aim of this work is to investigate the role of miRNAs in the activation of T lymphocytes. By microarray analysis, we observed differential expression of miRNAs in distinct subclasses of T lymphocytes: CD8⁺ naïve, CD8⁺ memory effector, CD8⁺central memory; CD4⁺ naïve, CD4⁺ memory effector and CD4⁺ central memory. We found that miR-146a is expressed in separated primary T cells, in both CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ cells, but not in naïve T cells.

Furthermore, a significative up-regulation of miR-146a expression levels was also obtained in the Jurkat T cell line, stimulated with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies, or with PMA and ionomycin, which are stimuli that mimic antigen recognition by TCR.

Therefore, we attempted to discover the mechanisms of miR-146a transcriptional regulation. Some indications about the pathways possibly involved were obtained by treatment of induced Jurkat cells with specific pharmacological inhibitors of pathways triggered by TCR signalling.. We found that Cyclosporine (CsA), a Calcineurin significantly impaired miR-146a up-regulation, thus inhibitor. suggesting that the pathways affected by CsA play a key role in the induction of miR-146a upon TCR engagement. This observation prompted us to further investigate with molecular tools the transcription factors which are responsible for miR-146a expression in T lymphocytes. A deeper investigation to carefully characterize the cis regulatory elements involved in miR-146a regulation was performed through a bioinformatic analysis of miR-146a promoter and a luciferase assay. These approaches allowed us to identify conserved consensus sites for T lymphocytes-specific transcription factors, which are involved in pathways triggered by TCR signalling and are required for miR-146a induction. The results obtained indicate that NF-kB and c-ETS are involved in miR-146a induction in T cell activation pathway.

Moreover, we also demonstrated that miR-146a is also induced in Jurkat cells by an inflammatory stimulus, TNF- α treatment, and NF- κ B is the main transcription factor responsible of miR-146a induction.

Another intriguing aspect of miRNAs study is the identification of miRNAs biological role in a cell. We identified miR-146a targets

taking advantage of a 3'-untranslated region (UTR) luciferase reporter assay. We tested a number of predicted miR-146a targets, relevant for T cell physiology. In particular, we report here that miR-146a downmodulates the apoptosis process via translational inhibition of FADD and it reduces AP-1 transcriptional activity, through the downregulation of c-FOS

Altogether, our findings reveal miR-146a involvement in T cell activation process, significantly affecting key properties of lymphocytes.

INTRODUCTION

MICRORNAS: NEW KEY MODULATORS OF CELLULAR PROCESSES

Gene regulation mediated by the action of small RNAs is a widely spread mechanism, evolutionarily conserved across diverse *phyla*, from prokaryotes to the more complex eukaryotes. This kind of regulation is present at many levels; several classes of small silencing RNAs have been identified thus far including small interfering RNAs (siRNAs), Piwi-interacting RNAs (piRNas) and microRNAs (miRNAs).

MiRNAs are an abundant class of small silencing RNAs, whose functional role in many biological processes have been emerged in the last decade. It was long known in the Caenorhabditis elegans community that a decrease in the expression of the heterochronic gene *lin-14*, regulating developmental timing, was critical for early larval stage transition and that the *lin-4* gene was required to reduced *lin-14* levels and allow the larval transition to occur¹. In 1993 a groundbreaking work by two groups showed that repression occurred through complementary binding of small RNA lin-4 to the 3'-UTR (untranslated region) of the *lin-14* mRNA^{2,3}. In working to clone the line-4 gene, Lee, Feinbaum, Ambros rigorously narrowed down the genomic interval of interest and systematically mutated all ORFs there to demonstrate that the *line-4* gene product is not a protein. Instead, they found the *line-4* gene product is a small ncRNA that shows antisense complementarily of the *line-14* 3'-UTR¹. A later study found and cloned a gene, let-7, that encodes a similar small ncRNA which acts in a similar manner ⁴. Numerous miRNAs have been cloned in the following years and they have shown to negatively regulate protein translation

MiRNAs are small endogenous non coding RNAs of about 22 nucleotides in length involved in the post-transcriptional regulation. They derive from long primary transcripts (pri-miRNA), which can exceed 1 kb and typically are transcribed by polymerase II ⁵. These primiRNA are processed into hairpins of 60-70 nucleotides in length, called pre-miRNA by a complex containing the nuclear RNAse III

enzyme Drosha and DGCR (Di Gorge Sindrome Critical Region 8 homologue); they are then exported to the cytoplasm and further processed by an enzymatic complex containing the RNAse III enzyme Dicer and TRBP (human immunodeficiency virus 1-transactivating response RNA-binding protein) yielding the mature, double stranded, 22 nucleotides long miRNAs ^{6,7} (Fig.A).

Using one strand of the miRNA, called the guide strand, the miRISC is believed to either block mRNA translation, reduce mRNA stability or induce mRNA cleavage, after imperfect binding between the 5'-end of the miRNA and complementary sequence, in the 3'-UTR of the target mRNA, (Fig.A)^{8,9}. Interaction specificity relies on the nucleotides occupying positions 2 to 7 or 2 to 8 within the miRNA. This region is called "seed" ^{8,9}. Significantly, this redundancy within the miRNA binding region means that individual miRNAs are able to target multiple mRNA and has led to the speculation the miRNAs might have a similar role to transcription factors ^{10,11}.

It is generally assumed that members of the same family of miRNA (i.e. sharing the same seed sequence) will affect the same targets.

In the last few years 678 mature human miRNA sequences have been listed in the miRNA registry (http://www.microrna.sanger.ca.uk /sequences) with approximately 1000 predicted miRNAs, each potentially targeting about 200 genes ¹². Therefore, it is estimated that the expression of >30% of the human genome may be regulated by miRNAs.



Fig. A: Biogenesis of MiRNAs

Nat. Rev. Genet., 5, 522-531

MicroRNAs in haematopoiesis and in the immune response

Study of miRNAs flourished during the last decade and it is now apparent that they can potentially modulate every aspect of cellular activity, targeting genes involved in a wide range of physiological processes, from apoptosis ¹³ to proliferation¹⁴ and differentiation ¹⁵. Many vertebrates miRNAs are expressed in a tissue- or cell type-specific manner ⁷; for example miR-142 is primarily expressed in lymphoid cells ¹⁶, miR-223 is preferentially expressed in myeloid cells¹⁷ and miR-1 is expressed in the muscle ¹⁵. These findings are consistent with a role of microRNAs as tissue identity specificators.

MiRNAs also participate to the regulation of haematopoietic differentiation, acting in a lineage and developmental stage-specific manner^{18,19}. This has emerged from studies that revealed selective expression of miR-181 in the thymus and miR-223 in the bone marrow and indicated their involvement in the differentiation of pluripotent hematopoietic stem cells (HSCs) into the various blood cells lineages, including B and T cells ^{19,21} (Fig. B).

Some microRNAs are important to fine tune lymphoid-specific pathways; for example it has been shown that the over-expression of miR-181 in haematopoietic precursor cells can bias lymphoid differentiation toward the B cell lineage at the expense of T cells ^{19,22}. A significant role of microRNAs in the immune response has also been shown for miR-146a and miR-155; both of them are involved in the control of innate immunity, in response to pro-inflammatory stimuli^{23,24}(Fig. B).

Regulatory T (Treg) cells were also shown to express a distinct miRNA subset, which resembles a profile of miRNAs expressed in activated but not naive T cells ^{19,20}.

The examples mentioned above suggest that, in addition to the effects of lineage specific transcription factors and cytokines, microRNAs affect lymphoid differentiation, acting as important determinants of cellular fate specification ^{19,21}.



Fig. B: Overview of the involvement of miRNAs in hematopoiesis and immune system function

T LYMPHOCYTE ACTIVATION

T lymphocyte activation is induced *via* the interaction of antigenic peptides, associated with major histocompatibility complex molecules (MHC) on the surface of antigen-presenting cells (APC), with the T cell receptor (TCR)/CD3 complex on T cells ²⁵. A co-stimulatory signal, mediated by the interaction of the auxiliary receptor expressed on T lymphocyte (CD28) with co-stimulatory molecules expressed by APC cells (B7.1 and B7.2), is also needed to achieve proper activation ²⁶.

TCR engagement by the antigen triggers a signal cascade which ultimately leads to the activation of transcription of several genes and induces the T lymphocytes to entry the cell cycle.

TCR elicits its function through the regulation of phospholipase C γ (PLC γ) an enzyme involved in the metabolism of inositol phospholipids²⁷. The phosphorylation and following activation of this enzyme, occurring within minutes after antigen recognition, simultaneously induces the phosphatidyl-inositol and the DAG (diacylglycerol) signal transduction pathways.

The first pathway triggers the activation of protein kinase C θ which, in turn, leads the phosphorylation of several cytoplasmic proteins and induces the transcription of downstream genes, through the activation of two main transcription factors: AP-1 (an heterodimeric transcriptional activator, composed of members of the Jun and Fos families) and NF- κ B^{27,28} (Fig. C).

The DAG signal, generated from membrane phospholipids, elicits a sustained entry of Ca^{2+} from the external milieu. The increase of the cytoplasmic Ca^{2+} concentration leads to gene transcription mediated by the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT)²⁹.

Finally, the synergic effects of these two signal transduction pathways induce transcription of interleukins, in particular IL-2, which is an important growth factor, fundamental to induce proliferation of activated T lymphocytes ³⁰.

Following activation by antigen presentation, T cells go through several phases:

1) an interleukin-2 (IL2)- dependent proliferation of the cells ("**clonal expansion**") and differentiation of the progeny in effector cells,



Adapted from Nature Reviews Immunology 3, 939-951 (2003)

Fig. C: TCR signalling pathway

2) an "**effector phase**", in which T lymphocytes either provide help or kill infected target cells;

3) a final "**deletion phase**", in which most of the T cell clone eventually undergoes apoptosis, while few T cells survive and enter the memory T-cell pool.

The proliferation of T lymphocytes in response to the antigenic stimulus is mediated by an autocrine loop: activated T cells produce cytokines (e.g. IL-2) and at the same time they express on their membrane the receptors for those cytokines ³⁰.

During the first phase T cells are resistant to apoptosis; entering the effector phase, T cells become progressively more sensitive to cell death in the presence of IL-2 and are finally deleted in the deletion phase. Therefore, IL-2 plays a dual role: it is firstly mandatory for clonal expansion and later for sensitizing T cells towards apoptosis ³¹.

The isolation of cell lines suitable for the study of T-cell activation and maturation, together with the development of protocols for the

activation of T-lymphocytes ex vivo, has allowed molecular characterization of the pathways involved ³².

The leukemic Jurkat T-cell line has been central to most of the important discoveries in T-cell biology. Jurkat cells have been demonstrated to be very useful for the biochemical characterization of Antigen-TCR interaction and to investigate the related signal transduction pathways ³². Moreover, genetic studies in mice and the characterization of human immunodeficiencies reveal that the core aspects of TCR signalling which have been defined in Jurkat cell line are also relevant in a physiological setting ²

In vitro study of T lymphocyte activation makes use of polyclonal activators (Fig. C), which bind to several TCR complexes, not depending on their specificity, mimicking the effect of the interaction with the complex MHC-peptide. For example, activation of T cells can be induced by signals generated by phorbol esters, such as PMA (activation of PKC) and ionomycin (induction of Ca^{2+} influx). The synergistic effect of these two signals leads to the activation of distinct signalling pathways which ultimately converge to induce IL-2 transcription within 2-5 h from the beginning of the stimulation³³. Therefore, these molecules bypass the interaction between antigen and lymphocyte, inducing the activation of signalling down-stream of both TCR and co-stimulatory pathway; for this reason they are widely used for *in vitro* studies.

REGULATION OF CYTOKINES SIGNALING AND INFLAMMATION

In response to cell injury elicited by trauma or infection the inflammatory response sets in, constituting a complex network of molecular and cellular interactions detected to facilitate a return to physiological homeostasis and tissue repair. The response is composed of both local events and a systematic activation mediated by cytokines. If tissue health is not restored or in response to a stable low grad irritation, inflammation becomes a chronic condition, that continuously damages the surrounding tissues³⁴.

The inflammatory response involves the sequential release of mediators and the recruitment of circulating leukocytes, which become activated at the inflammatory site and thus release further mediators. This response is self-limiting and in most cases it is resolved through the release of endogenous anti-inflammatory mediators and the clearance of inflammatory cells ³⁵. The persistent accumulation and activation of leukocytes is a hallmark of chronic inflammation ^{34, 36}.

The cellular components of the inflammatory response include leukocytes (innate immune system) as well as lymphocytes T, B, NK (adaptive immune system). The first step in the initiation of the inflammatory response is the activation of the innate immune system. This non specific response serves to locate the injurious agent, restrict the tissue damage and eliminate the harmful agent, initiate the adaptive immune system and determine the path that will be followed (cellular / humoral response). As lymphocytes arrive to the inflammatory area, antigen-presenting cells (APCs) present infectious agent antigens of macrophages to T cells. This is the ignition signal for the activation of the adaptive immunity, consisting of cellular and humoral immunity. These cells co-operate using molecular signals, including cytokines, chemokines, vasoactive amines (histamine, serotonine), plasma proteases (kinine system, complement system), arachidonic acid metabolites (prostaglandins, leukotrienes, lipoxins), platelet-activating factor (PAF), nitric oxide (NO).

Cytokines play important roles in the different phases of the immune response. In fact, they are responsible for the induction and outcome of the inflammatory process, regulation of the acute phase response, initiation of lymphocyte activation, control of antibody production and/or generation of cytotoxic lymphocytes. Cytokines are soluble factors which act as intercellular messenger between cells of the immune system by binding to specific receptors which are poorly expressed on resting cells and are up-regulated following cell activation.

Each cell types is able to produce a specific set of cytokines and receptors in response to different stimuli; several receptors and cytokines can be expressed by different cell types, thus creating a network in which each cell produces, for a short period of time, a large variety of cytokines able to bind and stimulate different cells ³⁵ Cytokine receptors, consisting of two or more membrane protein subunits, can be separated in different classes including the hematopoietin receptor superfamily (e.g. receptor for IL-2, -4, -10), the Tumor-Necrosis-Factor receptor (TNF-R) superfamily, the Interferon-receptor (IFN-R) superfamily ³⁷. Dimerization receptor subunits upon binding of the proper cytokine leads to the activation of the receptor associated cytoplasmic protein tyrosine kinases (JAKs) which either recruit members of the STAT family or activate the Ras-mitogen pathway ³⁷.

Tumor-Necrosis-Factor-*a* (TNF- α), interleukin-1b (IL-1*b*) and IL-6 are the classical pro-inflammatory cytokines. Their ability to activate both local and systemic effects is well established ³⁷. Locally, they contribute to the activation of the inflammatory cells and together with chemokines, which induce the expression of adhesion molecules, cause their local recruitment. When the causes of the inflammatory reaction are of a high intensity, the production of cytokines is increased and they are released in the circulation provoking the "acute phase response". On the other hand, "inhibitory" cytokines such as IL-10 damp down the activation of some effector functions of T lymphocytes and mononuclear phagocytes, by inhibiting the release of pro-inflammatory cytokines and therefore turning off the inflammatory process ³⁵.

In fact, it was recently shown that IL-10, produced by T lymphocytes and macrophages can inhibit cytokine production in monocytes by blocking endotoxin-induced NF- κ B activation, although the mechanism for this effect is unknown ³⁸.

NF- κ B is thought to play a pivotal role in immune and inflammatory responses through the regulation of genes encoding pro-inflammatory cytokines, adhesion molecules, chemokines and growth factors ³⁹. NF- κ B is usually kept inactive in the cytoplasm through association with endogenous inhibitor proteins of the I κ B (inhibitor of NF- κ B) family. In

response to pro-inflammatory stimuli, such as TNF- α , the signalling pathway converges on the activation of NF- κ B ^{40,41}. The NF- κ B induction regulates both pro- and anti-apoptotic pathways.

It was shown that NF- κ B not only plays an essential role in the initiation of inflammation, allowing the production of inflammatory cytokines ³⁷, but it is also involved in the resolution of inflammation, during which it induces the expression of anti-inflammatory genes and also induces apoptosis, thus turning off the inflammatory response ⁴².

MiR-146a AND INFLAMMATION

MiR-146 was first identified as an immune system modulator in a systematic effort to find miRNAs which influence the mammalian response to microbial infection ²³. Exposure of human monocytic THP-1 cells to various bacterial components, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS) and peptidoglycan, or to pro-inflammatory cytokines results in rapid induction of the expression of mature miR-146 ²³.

Moreover, in B cells with latent infection with Epstein-Barr virus, miR-146a expression increases as a result of signalling of the virus-encoded latent membrane protein 1 (LMP-1), which acts as a constitutively active homolog of the TNF-receptor 43 .

MiR-146 family is composed by two members: miR-146a and miR-146b, located on separate chromosomes in the context of unrelated genes. These miRNAs differ in their mature sequence by just two nucleotides at the 3' end, suggesting that they could probably regulate the same target mRNAs. Transcription of both pri-miR-146a and pri-miR-146b is up-regulated upon LPS stimulation ²³, but only mature miR-146a is detected, suggesting that this miRNA family has a rather sophisticated mode of regulation of expression, involving more than one point of control. Promoter analyses have shown that transcriptional up-regulation of miR-146a, induced by Toll-like receptor-4 (TLR-4) and LMP-1, is NF-κB dependent ^{23,43}. Although the physiological functions of the miR-146 family are not yet fully defined, some interesting targets have been validated and support a role for miR-146a is able to down-regulate the expression of IRAK1 and TRAF6 adaptor

molecules, whose involvement in TLR signalling in monocytes is well established ²³.

Since both miR-146 targets (IRAK1 and TRAF6) act in the same linear signalling cascade, the cumulative effect of a drop in their protein abundance would probably have a considerable effect on TLR signalling and might be involved in regulation of the innate immune response. In addition, a microarray survey of miR-146a targets after its enforced over-expression in Akata B cell line has demonstrated miR-146a-mediated inhibition of a group of interferon - responsive genes ⁴³. Whether their regulation by miR-146a is direct or indirect remains to be determined.

Activation-Induced Cell Death (AICD) in T cells

T cell receptor is able to deliver multiple signals which lead to the induction of selective T cell functions by activating specific intracellular signaling pathways. In particular, TCR engagement in mature T lymphocytes triggers both proliferation and cell death. These two opposite outcomes are differentially regulated and both of them are fundamental for the maintenance of the homeostasis of the immune system.

Thymocytes which fail to rearrange their TCR gene die by neglect ⁴³ while those that recognize self-antigens are eliminated by apoptosis in a process called "negative selection" ⁴⁴.

In peripheral T cells, instead, the deletion of autoreactive T lymphocytes occurs by a form of apoptosis induced by repeated TCR stimulation ⁴⁵. Furthermore, during an immune response, the majority of T lymphocytes, which undergo clonal expansion and proliferation in response to antigens *in vivo*, subsequently die by apoptosis, in order to maintain T cell homeostasis and self-tolerance ⁴⁵.

The physiological process of efficient removal of these activated lymphocytes is known as Activation-Induced Cell Death (AICD)⁴⁶. It is now well established that AICD predominantly occurs by apoptosis, induced by repeated TCR stimulation^{45,46}.

Unless survival signals are received, AICD may be a default pathway in all activated T cells ^{45,47}. Indeed, T cell activation leads to the increased expression of Fas antigen (CD95) and Fas ligand (FasL)⁴⁸.

The Fas antigen is a death receptor and it belongs to the family of Tumor Necrosis Factor (TNF) receptor ⁴⁹. Activated T cells expressing both Fas and FasL are killed either by themselves ("suicide") or by interacting with each other ("fratricide") ⁵⁰. Although the Fas/FasL system is primarly used for AICD of CD4⁺ cells, the TNF/TNF-R2 system seems to substantially contribute to the elimination of CD8⁺ cells ⁵¹. Moreover, AICD also involves perforin/granzyme B and it can occur in a caspase-independent manner ⁵².

The functional relevance of Fas and FasL factors in AICD is underlined by the evidence that mice having mutations in either Fas or FasL show an abnormal accumulation of T cells in the periphery at about 8 weeks of age ⁵¹. Moreover, autoimmune diseases develop in mice and humans with inherited defects in Fas or FasL ^{49,53}.

Engagement of Fas by FasL results in aggregation of the receptor and recruitment of the cytoplasmic adaptor protein FADD (Fas- associated death domain)⁵⁴.

The amino-terminal death effector domain (DED) of FADD interacts with homologous DED within the prodomain of the initiator caspase 8, acting as a platform for its recruitment ⁵⁵.

Upon activation of the Fas receptor by FasL, FADD also recruits the initiator caspase-8 (also called FADD-like IL-1 β - converting enzyme, FLICE)^{55,56}. The Fas receptor, FADD and pro-caspase 8 form a functional Death-Inducing Signaling Complex (DISC).

The activated caspase 8 is then released into the cytosol where it triggers the activation of a caspase cascade which initiates apoptosis ⁵⁵ (Fig. D).

In addition to TCR ligation, pharmacological drugs, such as phorbol esters (PMA) and Ca^{2+} ionophores (ionomycin), which mimic the two physiological signals (inositol 1,4,5-triphosphate and DAG, respectively) required for T cell activation, can also induce FasL expression and then AICD. For these reasons the use of these drugs represents a useful experimental approach to study the apoptotic process ⁵⁷.



Fig.D: Apoptosis cascade

Nature 1:50-58 (2001)

FADD adaptor protein in Apoptosis and beyond

FADD (Fas Associated Death protein with Death Domain) is a key protein adaptor, transmitting the death signal mediated by death receptors. All the main death receptors, like TNF-R, Fas, TRAIL, require FADD adaptor for transmitting their apoptotic signal ⁵⁷. Consequently, FADD is a crucial protein which controls multiple essential processes, including cellular homeostasis and elimination of

pathological cells, particularly during the course of an immune response, both in mice and humans ⁵⁷.

Human and mouse FADD proteins are very similar; they consist of 208 and 205 amino acids respectively and share 80% similarity and 68% identity 58 .

The pivotal role, that FADD plays in the apoptotic signalling of death receptor, was highlighted by generating mice with T cells that have germ line deficiency in FADD or those carrying a dominant negative form of FADD (FADDdd): they are resistant to apoptosis ⁵⁸.

Biological functions of FADD are regulated via cellular sublocalization, protein phosphorylation ^{59,60} and inhibitory molecules ⁵⁶. Control of FADD recruitment to the DISC can occur following several mechanisms, depending on the cell type and the death receptor ⁵⁶. The best characterized death receptor signaling inhibitor affecting FADD functions is the FLICE-inhibitory protein (c-FLIP) ⁵⁶.

Inhibition of death receptors- induced apoptosis by endogenous c-FLIP results from binding of c-FLIP to the death-effector-domain (DED) of FADD, thus hindering pro-caspase 8 activation.

Therefore, the equilibrium between FADD and the expression of its inhibitors determines the outcome of the death receptor-stimulated cells: apoptosis or survival⁶¹ (Fig.D).

Besides its role in transmitting the apoptotic signal into the cell, FADD have been shown to be a multifunctional protein, implicated in survival/ proliferation and cell cycle progression 62

FADD-deficient mice are embryonic lethal with heart developmental problem and die around day 10 of gestation. Chimeric mice generated by injecting *FADD-/-* embryonic stem cells into the *RAG-1-/-* blastocysts do not develop any lymphoproliferative diseases. Analysis of these mice showed T cell development abnormalities and mature T lymphocytes lack the full potential to proliferate in response to TCR signals ⁶³. More recently, analysis of T-cell specific FADD deficient mice showed an inhibition of T cell development at the proliferative step between DN and DP transition ⁶⁴. These observations suggest that FADD protein plays a role in mediating not only cell death signalling but T cell proliferation as well.

It was demonstrated that FADD ^{-/-} peripheral T cells are cycling but are defective in their co-stimulatory response when stimulated. Analysis of several cell cycle proteins showed normal down-regulation of p27 inhibitor, but increased level of p21, decreased levels of cyclin D2 and

constitutive activation of several cyclin-dependent kinases in activated T cells ⁶². However, further studies are necessary to elucidate the molecular mechanisms by which FADD targets the cell machinery It was supposed that the reduced proliferation resulted from the lack of IL-2 production or unresponsiveness to IL-2, but enzyme-linked immuno-absorbent assay (ELISA) did not show any alteration in IL-2 levels⁵⁸. Several characteristics of FADD-deficient chimeras are strikingly similar to those observed in IL-2R β -deficient mice, including the defect of T cell proliferation in response to IL-2, and a higher percentage of CD 69⁺ T cells ^{58,62}.

All these observations suggest a role for FADD in cytokine signaling and an unexpected link between cell proliferation and apoptosis.

APOPTOSIS - REGULATING miRNAs: THE APOPTOMIRS

Since the current knowledge on miRNAs world suggests that these small RNAs may modulate several biological processes, from differentiation to proliferation, it is not surprising that they also play an important role in regulating key steps of the apoptotic pathways by affecting the expression of apoptosis-regulating genes. Thanks to the growing knowledge on this field, it is now quite clear that an increase number of miRNAs play a role in apoptosis.

We refer to this class of Apoptosis-regulating miRNAs as "apoptomiRs".

The first miRNA described as an apoptotic regulator was the *Drosophila* gene *bantam*⁶⁵. It directly down-regulates the pro-apoptotic factor *hid*, suppressing the apoptotic activity. Furthermore, another miRNA, miR-14 was found to act as an anti-apoptotic factor by suppressing the death activator *reaper* during the eye formation⁶⁶.

Many efforts have been directed to identify miRNAs relevant for proliferation or cell death; for this purpose *Cheng et al.* individually knocked down 90 human miRs in HeLa and A459 cells ⁶⁷. Among those miRNAs identified as regulators of apoptosis there was miR-21. This miRNA has been shown to down-regulate PTEN as well as PDCD4 and the pro-apoptotic tumor-suppressor p53 in cancer cells⁶⁸.

In a groundbreaking work it was shown an inverse correlation between miR-15a/miR16-1 expression and BCL-2 levels in CLL cells, providing the first evidence of direct miRNA modulation of apoptotic machinery in human tissue ¹². Another microRNA which regulates BCL2 family members is miR-29a,b and c, which target MCL-1⁶⁹. These few examples suggest that tight regulation of anti-apoptotic function through miRNA is critical in development and other cellular processes and the breaking of such equilibrium is a key event for the development of malignancies.

Therefore, a single miRNA is able to provide a significant survival advantage to cancer cells upon its deregulation, and this may be a fundamental mechanism, adopted by cancer cells to elude apoptotic cell death. On the other side, the alterations in the apoptotic pathways are detrimental also in non cancerous cells, because of the disrupted homeostasis inside a particular cellular compartment; for example in immune cells the altered equilibrium between life and death may lead to the development of autoimmune disorders.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Reagents. PD98059, SP600125 and Cyclosporine inhibitors were purchased from Sigma Aldrich. For the isolation of CD4+ and CD8+ primary T lymphocytes: CD45RO, CD45RA or CD27 MicroBeads, and MACS[®] Columns from Miltenyi Biotech (Bergisch Gladbach, Germany) Miltenvi MACS Purification kit was used. PEconjugated α -CD4, PE-cyanine (Cy) 7-conjugated anti-CCR7, FITCconjugated α -CD27, PE-conjugated α -CD127, allophycocyanin (APC)conjugated α -CD45RA, FITC-conjugated α -CD69, and control isotypematched antibodies were purchased from from BD Pharmigen (San Diego, CA). FITC-conjugated anti-CD45RO from Caltag Laboratories (Burlingame, CA). Dynabeads CD3/CD28 T Cell Expander (aCD3/CD28) from Dynal Biotech (ASA, Oslo, Norway). PMA and ionomycin from Sigma-Aldrich (Milan, Italy). TNF-α and IFN-α from Sigma-Aldrich (Milan, Italy). Recombinant IL-2 from Chiron (Amsterdam, Netherlands). MiR-146a over-expression was obtained by using Mimic-146a (Dharmacon) and Mimic scramble was used as control (Dharmacon).

Ann-V was purchased from BD Biosciences and PI from Sigma Aldrich.

Cell cultures. The human leukemic T cell line, Jurkat (DSMZ) was used. Cells were grown in RPMI 1640 (Gibco) supplemented with 10% heat inactivated Foetal Bovine Serum (Sigma-Aldrich), Penicillin/ Streptomycin (Gibco) and L-glut (Gibco) at 37°C in 5% CO₂.

293T cells used for miR-146a targets identification were grown in D-MEM (Gibco) supplemented with 10% Foetal Bovine Serum, Penicillin / Streptomycin, and L-glut.

Reverse transcription of mature miRNAs. qRT-PCR amplification of miRNAs was performed as described ⁷⁰ with minor modifications: we used a different adapter sequence for each miRNA instead of the same sequence for all miRNAs. This modification allowed us to perform reverse transcription of all miRNAs in a given sample at the same time. Primers used are listed in Supplementary Table 1. 400ng of total RNA were denaturated for 3 minutes at 95° C and reverse transcribed with

the Superscript III RNAse H- Reverse Transcriptase (Invitrogen) for 30 minutes at 50° C. 10µl reaction contained each RT primer at a final concentration of 0.1μ M. Superscript enzyme was inactivated by incubation at 95° C for 5 minutes. Each reverse transcription primer consists of two different regions: the 3'region is 7 to 12nt long and is complementary to the 5'end of miRNA; the 5'region (herein referred to as adapter) is a 20 to 22nt sequence not represented in the mammalian genomes.

qRT-PCR of mature miRNAs. RT reaction was brought to 800µl and 10µl were used for each qPCR reaction. qPCR was performed with iCycler (BioRad) using iQ-SYBR-green supermix (BioRad) according to the manufacturers' instructions.

Forward primers for PCR amplification are 14 to 17nt long LNA modified DNA oligonucleotides ⁷⁰. Three to five non consecutive nucleotides were LNA modified in the 5'end of each oligonucleotide. Melting temperature of LNA primers was checked at <u>http://lna-tm.com/</u>. Reverse primers for PCR amplification are the reverse complementary sequence of adapters. PCR amplifications were performed in triplicates with a relative error of about 30%.

Mature miRNAs were quantified with the standard curve method. Standard curves were obtained by qPCR amplification of serial dilutions of synthetic DNA templates. U6 small nuclear RNA was measured with the same method and used for normalization. Blank and RT minus controls were included. All oligonucleotides were purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO).

Lentiviral transduction. Viral particles were obtained by cotransfection of 293T cells with the pRRL-miR-146a construct (see DNA plasmid constructs) and the PLP-1, PLP-2 and PLP-VSVG plasmids. Medium was replaced 6 hrs after transfection, and viral particles were harvested 48 hrs after transfection. Jurkat cells were transduced overnight at a MOI of 15. Thereafter, cells were selected with $2\mu g$ /ml puromycin.

RNA isolation. RNA used for mRNA and miRNA quantification analyses were obtained by a modified TRIzol method. Briefly, cell were suspended in TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen) and processed

according to manufacturer's protocol up through the addition of isopropanol. Samples were allowed to precipitate in isopropanol overnight at -20°C and then centrifuged at 12000x g for 15 min at 4°C. Isopropanol was decanted, samples were washed with ethanol 70% and then resuspended in nuclease- free water.

Northern Blot. 30µg of total RNA were separated by electrophoresis in a 15% agarose gel and transferred to Gene Screen Plus nylon membrane, After 3 min of UV- cross linking, membranes were prehybridized for 2h at 50°C in the hybridization buffer (50% formamide, 6X SSC, 10X Denhart's solution, 10mM EDTA, 0,1% SDS and 100 µg/ml single-stranded salmon sperm DNA). Hybridization was carried out overnight at 50°C with miR-146a probe (3x 10⁶ cpm/ml).The probe was labeled with [γ -³²P] deoxyoligonucleotide antisense to miR-146a, using T4 PNK system (NEB Biolabs). Then the membranes were washed 3 times with 2X SSC and 0,1X SDS for 20 min and analyzed using IMAGEJ software for quantitative analyses and auto-radiographed on X-ray films (Kodak) using an intensifying screen at -80°C. After autoradiography the blot was reprobed with a probe for U6 as a loading control.

Treatment with pharmacological inhibitors. Jurkat cells were preincubated with CsA or PD98059 or SP600125 for 30 min before stimulation with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies. Various concentrations of inhibitors were used, as indicated in Fig.4a,b,c. Cells were harvested for RNA extraction 24h after stimulation.

DNA plasmid constructs. miR-146a lentiviral construct was obtained as follows: a region of about 300 nt containing miR-146a was amplified from Jurkat cells genomic DNA and cloned into the BamHI Xho sites of a pcDNA 4 TO vector (Invitrogen). The MluI-XhoI fragment was PCR amplified and cloned into pSuperior-Puro (Oligoengine, Seattle) into the BstBI XhoI sites. The XmaI-XhoI fragment was finally cloned into the AgeI-XhoI sites in pRRLSIN.cPPT.PGK-GFP.WPRE (Addgene, plasmid #12252, Cambridge MA, USA) thus obtaining pRRLSIN.cPPT.PURO.CMV-TO-miR-146a.WPRE, herein referred to as pRRL-146a. *Cloning of miR-146a promoter reporter constructs.* The pmLuc-1 AccepTor plasmid (Novagen) was used for generation of promoter reporter constructs. Briefly, the relevant regions were amplified by PCR from genomic DNA, using primers listed in supplementary table 1. PCR products were ligated into the pMLuc-1 AccepTor plasmid according to manufacturer instructions. Deletions were introduced using the site QuickChange II Site Directed Mutagenesis kit (Stratagene). Primers used for mutagenesis are listed in supplementary table1. The introduction of mutations was confirmed by DNA sequencing.

Cloning of putative mir-146a targets UTR. A region encompassing about 300nt upstream and downstream of putative micro-RNA seed was amplified by PCR on genomic DNA with the following PCR protocol: 5x GoTaq Flexi buffer (Promega) 10µl MgCl (Promega) 3µl, 10mM dNTPs (Promega) 1µl GoTaq (Promega) 0,25µl 10 µM Reverse and Forward oligos 1,25µl, genomic DNA 0,2µg and H₂O to 50µl. The PCR program was as follows: 30 cycles (95°C for 30 sec, 58°C for 45sec, 72°C for 60sec). PCR products were run on a 1% agarose gel to confirm amplified fragment size and then were purified on a Nucleospin column (Macheray-Nagel), digested with Xba I (New England Biolabs), purified on a G50 sephadex column (GE Healthcare, Amersham) and cloned into the Xba I site of pGL-3 plasmid (Promega). Positive clones were screened by PCR (10µl, same protocol as above) using the seque primer on the plasmid) and the UTR specific reverse primer. Positive clones were further confirmed by enzymatic digestion. Midi-preps of the plasmids were prepared with the Endofree Midi kit from Qiagen.

Transient transfection and Dual-luciferase reporter assay

a) 146a promoter constructs. Lipid-mediated transfection was performed with Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) according to the manufacturer's protocols. Briefly, Jurkat cells (5×10^5 cells/ ml) were plated in 6 well culture plates and transfected with 2µg pmLuc-1 AccepTor plasmid (Novagen) containing the promoter fragment and 2µg of pGL3TK for normalization of transfection efficiency. After 24h recovery period, transfected cells were either left untreated or induced with TNF- α (40ng/ml; Roche Diagnostics) or α CD3 (5µg/ml; clone

OKT-3) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) or PMA (10ng/ml) and ionomycin (1µg/ml). The luciferase activity was assayed using a Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (Promega) according to the manufacturer instructions.

b) 3'UTR of Target genes. 24 h before transfection 293T (1 x 10^5 cells/ 500µl) were plated in 24-well culture plates. The cells were then transfected with a pGL-3 vector containing the 3' UTR of interest (0,26µg), a miR-146a mimic or a mimic scramble as a control and with a pRLTK vector (1,3ng) for normalization of transfection efficiency (Promega). The constructs were diluted in 50µl of OPTIMEM (Invitrogen) and added to 50µl of OPTI-MEM containing 2µl of Lipofectamine 2000 (Invitrogen) incubated 5 min at room temperature (RT). The mix was incubated at RT for 20 min and then added to the cells. Cells were collected and lysed with 100µl of Passive Lysis Buffer (Promega). The luciferase activity was assayed as described above

Jurkat cells kinetics of Activation. 12 well-culture plate were coated over night at 4°C with a polyclonal rabbit anti-mouse immunoglobulins (Dako), 300µl in each well at the concentration of 10µg/ml. Wells were washed three times with cooled PBS and an equal concentration of α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) were added. The plates were incubated for 2-4h at 37°C or overnight at 4°C; afterward the wells were washed three times with the medium (RPMI1640, Gibco-Invitrogen). Jurkats (5 x 10⁵ cells) were added to the wells and incubated for the indicated times.

Bioinformatic analysis of hsa pri-miRNA-146a promoter

Bioinformatic analysis of the miR-146a 1100bp promoter region was performed using the MULAN software, available on line (www.mulan.dcode.org)

CD69 staining. Jurkat and Jurkat pRRL-146a cells $(5x \ 10^5 \text{ cells/ml})$ were washed in PBS, centrifuged at 1100 rpm for 10 min and resuspended in 50µl of PBS with 1µl of α CD69 FITC. The samples were incubated for 15 min at 4°C in the darkness and then were washed

twice with PBS. Cells were resuspended in 500µl of PBS and analyzed by FACS-Calibur (Becton Dickinson)

T cell stimulation and cell death analysis. For the induction of AICD, Jurkat T cells ($5x10^5$ cells/ml), transfected with mimic-146a or mimic scramble, were stimulated with PMA (100ng/ml) and ionomycin (1µg/ml) for 72h. Cells activation was measured by CD69 staining 4h after PMA and ionomycin induction. Apoptotic cell fractions were determined by annexin V-FITC and PI double staining according to the manufacturer's instruction and analyzed with FACS-Calibur (Becton Dickinson). Unstained cells served as negative control. Data were analyzed using CellQuest software (Becton Dickinson)

NF-κB reporter assay. Jurkat cells $(4 \times 10^5 \text{ cells/ ml})$ were cotransfected by Lipofectamine 2000 according to manufacturer's protocol, with 3µg of NF-κB reporter construct (Promega) and with 3µg of the pGL3TK plasmid. 24h later cells were split in two wells of a 24wells plate; one well was induced with αCD3-αCD28 antibodies. After 24h from activation they were analyzed by luciferase assay.

AP-1 reporter luciferase assay. Jurkat pRRL-empty and Jurkat pRRL-146a cells (4 x 10^5 cells/ ml) were co-transfected with 3µg of AP-1 reporter construct (a nicely gift from Luca Simeoni) and with 1µg of the pRLTK plasmid, using Lipofectamine 2000, according to manufacturer's instructions. 6h after transfection, cells were stimulated with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies. After 24h activation cells were analyzed by luciferase assay.

RESULTS

MiR-146a is up-regulated in activated primary T cells

In order to identify those miRNAs whose expression is triggered by T cell activation, we studied the expression profile of miRNAs in primary T cells. Using a DNA microarray service provided by LC sciences, we analyzed distinct subclasses of sorted human primary T cell: naive T cells, CD4⁺ memory effectors and CD4⁺ central memory, CD8⁺ effectors and CD8⁺ memory effectors (data not shown).

Array analysis allowed us to focus our attention on a small subset of miRNAs which were differentially expressed in the cellular subtypes examined. Among the miRNAs which were up-regulated by different activation stimuli in primary T cells, there was miR-146a and miR-146b. The data obtained were validated by Real-Time RT-PCR (qRT-PCR), using primers which recognized the mature forms of selected miRNAs (Fig.1).

MiR-146 is a family of miRNAs composed by miR-146a and miR-146b, which differ from each other in their mature sequence only by two nucleotides at the 3'end; they are also encoded by two different genes on distinct chromosomes.



Fig.1. MiR-146a is up-regulated in differentiated primary T cells: miR-146a and miR-146b were measured in primary CD4+ and CD8+ cells by Real-Time qRT-PCR

We found that in $CD4^+$ memory effectors and $CD4^+$ central memory miR-146a was up-regulated of about 3-9 fold compared to $CD4^+$ naive cells (Fig.1). Similar higher levels of miR-146a were observed in $CD8^+$ memory effectors, $CD8^+$ central memory and $CD8^+$ effectors (Fig.1) compared to CD8+ naïve cells.

On the contrary, no differences of expression were observed for miR-146b neither in $CD8^+$ cells, nor in $CD4^+$ memory effector compared with naive cells; the up-regulation of miR-146b was found only in $CD4^+$ central memory cells (Fig.1).

MiR-146a is differentially up-regulated in various stimulation conditions in Jurkat T cells

We next moved towards an *in vitro* model to focus our attention on T lymphocytes activation and for this purpose we chose Jurkat T cells as experimental system.

In order to verify whether activation of T-lymphocytes results into induction of miR-146a, we measured miRNAs expression by microarray, validating it by Real-Time qRT-PCR.

As expected, miR-146a and miR-146b levels were up-regulated in Jurkat cells by either PMA+ ionomycin or α CD3- α CD28 antibodies.



Fig.2a. **Mir-146a expression markedly increases after TCR stimulation:** Jurkat cells were stimulated with PMA (10ng/ml) and ionomycin (1 μ g/ml) and miR-146a levels were measured at different times by Real-Time qRT-PCR).

The fold increase of this up-regulation was quite different between the two microRNAs; in fact, miR-146a up-regulation was higher, reaching 300 fold increase upon PMA and ionomycin stimulation (Fig.2a), whereas miR-146b was up-regulated of about 3 fold (data not shown).

The increase of miR-146a expression was confirmed by Northern blot analysis (Supplementary Fig.1).

The kinetic of miR-146a expression showed that miR-146a levels increase 24h after PMA and ionomycin treatment in Jurkat T cells reaching a plateau 48h after stimulation (Fig.2a.).

A similar induction was highlighted by experiments where α CD3 and α CD28 antibodies were used to resemble a more physiological stimulation of TCR (Fig.2b); in this case however, miR-146a induction was less pronounced at 24h, while it was comparable to that observed after PMA and ionomycin stimulation at 72h.

Since miR-146b expression was not induced in Jurkat cells stimulated with α CD3 and α CD28 antibodies (data not shown) we focused our analysis on miR-146a.

In contrast to what observed in Jurkat cells, miR-146a levels in 293T cells did not significantly change after stimulation with phorbol esters (PMA) (Fig.2c), thus suggesting that the need of an increase in miR-146a levels following this treatment should require transcription factors typically expressed in T lymphocytes.



Fig.2b. MiR-146a expression markedly increases after TCR activating stimuli: Jurkat cells were stimulated with α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) and miR-146a levels were measured at different times by Real-Time qRT-PCR.



Fig.2c. PMA- mediated induction of miR-146a is specific for T cells: Jurkat cells and 293T cells were stimulated with PMA (10ng/ml) and miR-146a levels were measured at different times by Real-Time qRT-PCR

MiR-146a is expressed in response to TNF- α inflammatory stimulus, but not upon IFN- α stimulation

We tested miR-146a responsiveness to other stimuli, different from those which induce T cell activation.

MiR-146a responsiveness to various pro-inflammatory stimuli has been demonstrated in monocytes ²³. Prompted by these findings, we checked miR-146a expression in Jurkat cells stimulated with TNF- α , one of the early major cellular mediators in inflammatory response ^{71,72}.

Upon binding of TNF- α to TNFR-1 expressed on T cells several pathways are triggered; among them apoptosis and NF- κ B- mediated inflammation.

TNF- α induced a significant increase of miR-146a levels (Fig.3a), with a kinetic of activation in which an up-regulation of about 3 fold was observed 24h after induction. MiR-146a level of expression further increased 48h and 72h after induction, reaching ten fold higher levels compared to non-treated cells (Fig.3a).



Fig.3a. MiR-146a expression in TNF- α **induced Jurkat T cells** Jurkat cells ($5x10^5$ cells/ml) were stimulated with TNF- α (40ng/ml) and miR-146a levels were measured at different times by Real-Time qRT-PCR

This experimental evidence suggested that miR-146a could be involved in the inflammatory response in T lymphocytes as was already shown in monocytes and B lymphocytes 23,43 .



Fig.3b. MiR-146a is not induced by IFN- α : Jurkat cells (5x10⁵ cells/ml) were stimulated with IFN- α alone, with α CD3 (5 μ g/ml) and α CD28 antibodies (5 μ g/ml) and with a double stimulus IFN- α (20ng/ml) + α CD3 (5 μ g/ml) and α CD28 antibodies (5 μ g/ml). MiR-146a levels were measured at different times by Real-Time qRT-PCR

Another stimulation condition tested in our experiments was IFN- α treatment with and without TCR concomitant stimulation, in order to assess if miR-146a in T cells was also induced by IFN- α downstream effectors, namely STAT proteins.

Our results show that, in Jurkat cells IFN- α does not induce miR-146a expression and has no effect on miR-146a up-regulation mediated by TCR (Fig. 3b). Altogether, our observations suggested that NF- κ B and AP-1, transcription factors activated by TNF- α signalling, could be modulators of miR-146a expression in T lymphocytes in response to inflammation.

Pharmacological approaches indicate TCR signalling pathways affecting miR-146a expression

We have shown that miR-146a is up-regulated in Jurkat cells in various stimulation condition involving TCR signalling and TNF- α mediated induction.

It has been reported that multiple signalling pathways downstream of TCR activation contribute to the induction of early activation genes (e.g. IL-2) and therefore we employed various pharmacological inhibitors to investigate the contribution of some of these pathways to miR146a expression following TCR activation.

For this purpose, we used three different inhibitors, known to affect partially overlapping pathways triggered upon T cell activation. In particular we impaired NFAT, NF- κ B, JNK and ERK pathways using different drugs.

To ensure that in Jurkat T cells, as in primary T lymphocytes, SP600125 behaved as a JNK inhibitor ⁷³, we examined its effect on IL-2 transcription; in fact it has been demonstrated that this drug is able to strongly reduce the levels of its transcript ⁷³.

As expected, , IL-2 levels dampened after treatment with SP600125 (data not shown), while miR-146a levels of expression showed only a subtle reduction 24h after TCR stimulation, using various concentration of inhibitor (Fig.4a). So this drug did not have a significative effect on α CD3- α CD28-mediated stimulation of miR-146a expression, thus demonstrating that AP-1 is not involved in miR-146a modulation.



Fig.4a. MiR-146a expression is partially affected by JNK inhibitor: Jurkat cells treated with JNK inhibitor for 30 min were induced for 24h with α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) antibodies. MiR-146a levels were measured by Real-Time qRT-PCR

A similar approach was also used to test PD98059, which specifically inhibits MEK1⁷³ and thus the ERK pathway (Fig.4b).

As reported in other papers ⁷³ this drug only attenuates IL-2 expression resulting in a 40% inhibition of its mRNA levels (data not shown).

A similar effect was also observed on miR-146a levels in the presence of different concentrations of inhibitor, showing that PD98059 partially affected miR-146a expression in the presence of CsA 20μ M (Fig. 4b).



Fig.4b. MiR-146a expression is partially affected by MEK1 inhibitor: Jurkat cells treated with MEK1 inhibitor for 30 min were induced for 24h with α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) antibodies. MiR-146a levels were measured by Real-Time qRT-PCR

Finally, a third pharmacological inhibitor used in our experiments was cyclosporine (CsA), a specific Calcineurin inhibitor, able to suppress the production of cytokines during T cell activation. In particular CsA directly inhibits Calcineurin-mediated activation of NFAT and appears to have some effects on AP-1 and NF-kB activity ⁷³ (supplementary Fig.2).

As expected treatment with CsA caused a strong reduction of IL-2 levels (data not shown); we observed also a substantial reduction of miR-146a expression (Fig 4c). This finding suggests that at least one of the three transcription factors, downstream of Calcineurin (NFAT, AP-1 and NF- kB) could be involved in modulating miR-146a expression.



Fig.4c. Cyclosporine inhibits miR-146a expression:: Jurkat cells ($5x10^5$ cells/ml) treated with CsA inhibitor ($0,5\mu$ g/ml) for 30 min were induced for 24h with α CD3 (5μ g/ml) and α CD28 (5μ g/ml) antibodies. MiR-146a levels were measured by Real-Time qRT-PCR

Analysis of miR-146a promoter region upon TCR stimulation and TNF-α treatment by a luciferase assay

The experiments illustrated above implicated a transcriptional regulation of miR-146a expression following an activating stimulus mimicking the TCR-engagement by antigen or in response to TNF- α inflammatory stimulus.

To further address this issue, we extended our study to identify the promoter elements which mediated the different responsiveness to these two stimuli. We cloned a 1100bp promoter region (Fig 5), mapping upstream of the pri-miRNA coding region. This 1100bp construct was tested in transient transfection assays in Jurkat cells stimulated either with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies (or PMA and ionomycin) or with TNF- α . As illustrated in Fig. 5, the region of 1100bp up-stream of miR-146a is able to drive expression of a reporter gene, in response to the same stimuli leading to miR-146a expression (Fig.2a, 2b and Fig.3a)



Fig.5. Effects of PMA+ionomycin, α CD3- α CD28 antibodies and TNF- α on miR-146a promoter reporter: Luciferase assay on miR-146a 1100bp promoter fragment in transfected Jurkat cells, stimulated for 24h with PMA (10ng/ml) and ionomycin (1µg/ml), α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) or TNF- α (40ng/ml). Relative promoter activity was measured by renilla/firefly Dual Luciferase assay.

We then performed a bioinformatic analysis of the promoter sequence to identify candidates for the transcriptional regulation of miR-146a. The results of these analyses revealed the existence of putative conserved binding sites of interest; among them there were the two NF- κ B sites previously described by Taganov et al. in monocytes²³.

Because of this finding we asked whether the down-modulation of miR-146a observed in the presence of CsA (Fig.4c) could depend on impairment of NF- κ B activity, subsequent to Calcineurin inhibition. (supplementary Fig.2). Therefore, we directly tested CsA inhibition on the activity of miR-146a promoter fragment.

As shown in Fig. 6 CsA affected luciferase expression of miR-146a promoter construct determining a two fold decrease of luciferase levels.



Fig.6. Cyclosporine down-regulates the 1100bp promoter activity: luciferase assay in Jurkat cells ($5x10^5$ cells/ml) treated with $0.5\mu g/\mu l$ CsA inhibitor; 24h after stimulation (fold induction of α CD3- α CD28 stimulation compared with non induced constructs). Relative promoter activity was measured by renilla/firefly Dual Luciferase assay

Site-directed mutagenesis demonstrates that TCR and TNFa stimulation modulate miR-146a expression through partially overlapping mechanisms

To further confirm the data obtained with the pharmacological approach and to finely map the *cis* elements required to drive the expression of miR-146a, we performed a site directed mutation of the relevant consensus sequences within the miR-146a promoter reporter construct. In addition to NF- κ B, we identified conserved putative binding sites, within miR-146a promoter, for some interesting transcriptional factors which are known to play a role in T cell activation. Among them c-ETS and USF2 binding sites were studied. To investigate the contribution of these different binding sites to miR-146a promoter activity a mutagenesis analysis was performed (Fig.7a).



Fig 7a. Promoter region of 1100bp isolated upstream pre-miRNA coding sequence: Binding sites mutagenized are here illustrated

Mutagenized constructs were transiently transfected into Jurkat T cells, together with a control vector and the results of the luciferase activity was analyzed. As shown in Fig.7b, the mutation of either NF- κ B₍₁₎ and ETS sites almost completely abolished miR-146a promoter activity upon TCR stimulation.

By contrast, the mutation of NF- κ B₍₂₎ site had a lower effect on miR-146a promoter activity. Finally, USF2 site mutation did not affect miR-146a promoter activity.



Fig. 7b. ETS and NF-κB modulate miR-146a expression: Jurkat cells were transfected for 48h with the wildtype (wt) or mutagenized (mut) promoter construct and with pGL3TK used for normalization of transfection. Cells were stimulated with α CD3 (5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) antibodies for 24h. Fold induction of α CD3 and α CD28 stimulation were here illustrated compared with non induced reporter constructs. Relative promoter activity was measured by renilla/firefly Dual Luciferase assay. (p-value<0,05).

Since TNF- α induced miR-146a expression in Jurkat cells (Fig.3a) we used miR-146a promoter construct to test its activity in the presence of an inflammatory stimulus. We found that, according to the results described above, TNF- α induced miR-146a promoter activity (Fig.7c).

Mutagenesis analysis showed that the disruption of NF- κ B₍₁₎ site was *per se* sufficient to determine a complete loss of responsiveness to TNF- α stimulation. NF- κ B₍₂₎ site, instead, had a subsidiary role, inducing only a partial reduction of luciferase activity (Fig.7c).

In contrast to the effects of mutation at the c-ETS site in Jurkat cells stimulated with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies (Fig. 7b) or with PMA and ionomycin (data not shown), TNF- α stimulation of the promoter

reporter was not affected by the ETS mutation (Fig.7c), indicating that the ETS site did not play a role in TNF- α response.



Fig. 7c. NF- κ B is the main transcriptional factor modulating miR-146a expression in an inflammatory condition: Jurkat cells were transfected with the wildtype (wt) or mutagenized promoter construct (Mut) and with pGL3TK used for normalization of transfection. Cells were stimulated with α CD3(5µg/ml) and α CD28 (5µg/ml) antibodies for 24h. Fold induction of α CD3- α CD28 stimulation were here illustrated compared with non induced reporter constructs. Relative promoter activity was assayed using a renilla/firefly Dual-Luciferase Assay System. (p value< 0,05).

MAD-4, FADD and c-FOS are directly targeted by miR-146a

To examine the functional relevance of miR-146a up-regulation in T cells as part of the TCR-mediated activation process, we set out to identify miR-146a-regulated genes. We chose a bioinformatics approach, using prediction algorithms for the identification of microRNA targets. We referred to prediction methods such as PicTar^{74,75} and TargetScan^{76,77}, both relying heavily on evolutionary conservation of the target seed site in mammals. Although conservation is a powerful way to improve the sensitivity over background, it is clearly not useful for the potentially large class of species-specific miRNAs-mRNA interactions which have recently been found ⁷⁷.

In order to overcome this drawback, we also referred to the miRanda algorithm to identify potential binding sites for a given miRNA in genomic sequences ^{77,78}. Because of the lower level of stringency required by miRanda, it gives a larger number of putative targets.

Among the more than 900 computationally predicted targets for miR-146a we focussed on genes relevant for T cell biology, predicted by at least one of these algorithms.

We decided to validate the putative targets selected taking advantage of a 3'-untranslated region (3'-UTR) luciferase reporter assay.

We performed luciferase reporter assays on constructs containing the firefly luciferase gene, fused to 500bp of the 3'UTR of 22 genes. Among them there were: MAD4, BCL11A, LCK, FADD and c-FOS (see Supplementary Table 2 for the complete list of putative targets analyzed). In particular, we noticed that MAD4 was an interesting candidate, because it contained two miR-146a complementary seed site in its 3'untraslated region (3'UTR). Moreover, it has been reported that MAD4 is down-regulated in T lymphocytes upon TCR stimulation⁷⁹.

Another important candidate as miR-146a target was FADD, which has only a non conserved seed site and thus it is predicted only by miRanda algorithm. Nevertheless, it is noteworthy that the level of complementarity between FADD 3'UTR and miR-146a seed neighbouring nucleotides was greater than that of other putative targets. Finally, c-FOS acts as an important transcription factor, forming a heterodimer with c-Jun, commonly known as AP-1⁸⁰.

The reporter constructs were transiently transfected together with a mimic-146a or with a scramble mimic (see material and methods).

The data shown in Fig.8a,b,c demonstrate a miR-146a specific regulation of MAD4, FADD and c-FOS luciferase reporters.



Fig.8a. MAD4 is targeted by miR-146a: luciferase assay of MAD4 3'UTR in 293T cells 24h after transfection The effects of miR-146a up-regulation were here illustrated on wildtype 3'UTR (wt UTR) and on mutated 3'UTR seed match (mutUTR). Luciferase activity was assayed using a Dual-Luciferase Reporter System. (p value< 0,05).



Fig. 8b. FADD is down-regulated by miR-146a: luciferase assay of FADD 3'UTR in 293T cells 24h after transfection The effects of miR-146a up-regulation were here illustrated on wildtype 3'UTR (wt UTR) and on mutated 3'UTR seed match (mutUTR) (*p value <0,01).

The down-regulation observed was specific to the predicted miR-146a target sites, as mutation of the 3'UTR seed match sequences relieved the inhibitory activity of miR-146a (Fig. 8a,b,c).



Fig.8c. c-FOS is targeted by miR-146a: luciferase assay of c-FOS 3'UTR in 293T cells 24h after transfection; data were normalized to the value obtained for mimic scramble transfected cells The effects of miR-146a up-regulation were here illustrated on wildtype 3'UTR (wt UTR) and on mutated 3'UTR seed match (mutUTR) Luciferase activity was assayed using a Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System (*p value <0,01; **p value< 0,05).

Given that microRNAs can also promote target mRNA degradation, we also tested whether FADD, c-FOS and MAD4 mRNA levels were affected by miR-146a over-expression. To do so we measured mRNA levels by Real-Time RT-qPCR. MiR-146a over-expressing and control Jurkat cells had essentially the same mRNA levels, thus suggesting that miR-146a did not promote FADD, MAD4 or c-FOS mRNA decay (Fig. 8d).



Fig.8d. MiR-146a over-expression does not promote mRNAs decay of target genes: Jurkat cells ($5x10^5$ cells/ml) stimulated for 24h with PMA and ionomycin, were transfected with mimic-146a or with a scramble mimic; cells were collected 48h after transfection. GAPDH mRNA was used to normalize data (Real-Time qRT-PCR).

These results gave a good indication that miR-146a was implicated in the post-transcriptional down-modulation of MAD4, FADD and c-FOS levels; hence the need of further analyses to elucidate the molecular phenotypes associated to miR-146a up-regulation.

MiR-146a over-expression attenuates AICD in Jurkat cells

To explore the phenotypes associated to miR-146a-mediated FADD down-modulation after TCR activation, we looked at possible effect on apoptosis. As mentioned above, FADD is an adaptor protein mainly involved in the apoptotic process and in particular in AICD in T cells. The Jurkat cell line has been widely used as a model for T cell AICD studies, since apoptosis can be easily induced by various activating signals. The AICD process, indeed, can be mimicked by cross linking the TCR complex with α CD3 antibodies or by activating downstream signalling molecules (PKC and Calcineurin) with PMA and ionomycin.



Fig. 9a. Mimic-146a expressing Jurkat cells are more activated than control Jurkat cells: Jurkat cells (5×10^5 cells/ml) were stimulated with PMA (10ng/ml) and ionomycin ($1\mu g/ml$) and 2 $\times 10^5$ cells were stained with CD69-FITC 4h after stimulation. Data analysis was performed with FACS- Calibur

We transfected Jurkat cells with either mimic-146a or with scramble mimic and induced AICD by stimulating Jurkat cells with PMA and ionomycin for 72h.

We performed a CD69 staining to monitor the activation status of cells early after TCR stimulation. As expected, in non induced cells (both in the control cells and in mimic-146a Jurkat cells) CD69 is not expressed. As shown in Fig.9a, miR-146a over-expression caused a higher expression of CD69, thus evidencing a more activated status of these lymphocytes. These findings are in agreement with published studies that correlate FADD down-modulation with a higher percentage of CD69 positive cells ^{62,63}.

Moreover, when we examined the apoptotic rate of Jurkat cells transfected with mimic-146a, 72h after PMA and ionomycin stimulation, we found that there was a smaller fraction of apoptotic cells compared with the control (Fig. 9b).

Taken together, these findings pointed out an anti-apoptotic role of miR-146a, here demonstrated in T lymphocytes, possibly due to FADD down-modulation, as suggested by 3'UTR-FADD luciferase assay (Fig. 8b).



Fig.8b. MiR-146a acts as an anti-apoptotic factor: $AnnV^+-PI^+$ double staining in Mimic146a cells compared with scramble mimic control cells (FACS analysis).

MiR-146a affects AP-1 activity as revealed by a luciferase reporter assay

To further investigate the effect of mir-146a on c-FOS expression we performed a luciferase assay using an AP-1 reporter plasmid, transiently transfected in pRRL-146a Jurkat cells.

pRRL-146a Jurkat cells are transduced with a lentiviral construct, which allows a stable expression of miR-146a of about 3 fold compared with Jurkat cells expressing the pRRL(-) empty lentiviral construct.

pRRL-146a Jurkat cells were stimulated with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies for 24 hours. As illustrated on Fig.10, the over-expression of miR-146a impairs AP-1 transcriptional activity.

This result is consistent with the observation that c-FOS is downmodulated by miR-146a (Fig. 8c) and indicates the involvement of miR-146a in the modulation of AP-1 activity after T cell activation



Fig10. AP-1 activity is down-modulated by miR-146a: luciferase reporter assay on lentiviral transduced Jurkat cells, over-expressing miR-146a (pRRL-146a) compared with control Jurkat cells (pRRL-); cells were stimulated with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies for 24h. Luciferase activity was assayed using a renilla/firefly Dual-Luciferase Reporter Assay System. (p value< 0,05).

DISCUSSION

The critical role played by miRNAs in immunity has emerged in the last years ^{14,18,21}.

In the present study we found that miR-146a is expressed in primary CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T lymphocytes, but not in naive T cells (Fig.1). This first experimental evidence, suggesting the induction of miR-146a expression upon TCR stimulation, prompted us to further investigate a possible role of miR-146a in T cell activation.

We detected up-regulation of MiR-146a levels in Jurkat T cells, stimulated with PMA and ionomycin or with α CD3- α CD28 antibodies, which mimic antigen recognition by TCR (Fig.2a,2b).

Therefore, we attempted to elucidate the pathways involved in miR-146a transcriptional regulation using Jurkat cells as an experimental model. A first approach consisted in the treatment of Jurkat cells with specific pharmacological inhibitors, interfering with the main pathways triggered by TCR signalling: NFAT, AP-1, ERK and NF-κB pathways.

We found that cyclosporine, a Calcineurin inhibitor, significantly impaired miR-146a up-regulation (Fig.4c), thus suggesting that the pathways affected by CsA play a key role in the induction of miR-146a upon TCR engagement. This observation prompted us to further investigate with molecular tools the transcription factors which are responsible for miR-146a expression in T lymphocytes.

A deeper investigation of miR-146a promoter region, through a bioinformatic analysis and a luciferase assay, allowed us to carefully characterize the *cis* regulatory elements involved in miR-146a transcriptional regulation. First we identified conserved consensus sites for T lymphocytes specific transcription factors, which are involved in pathways triggered by TCR signalling; in particular two sites for NF- κ B, one site for c-ETS and one site for USF2 (Fig.7a). Subsequently, mutational analysis of the promoter region indicated that NF- κ B and c-ETS binding sites are relevant for the modulation of miR-146a expression upon TCR stimulation (Fig.7b.).

Both NF- κ B and c-ETS are transcription factors fundamental for transmitting TCR activation signals in the T lymphocytes^{81,82} and play a key role in modulating the expression of several cytokines (e.g. IL-2 and IL-12). Therefore, our finding that these two transcriptional factors strongly affect the expression of miR-146a provide a further link between miR-146a and T lymphocytes activation.

Since miR-146a has been shown to be induced in monocytes by inflammatory stimuli ²³, we analyzed miR-146a expression in Jurkat cells treated with TNF- α , one of the early major cellular mediators in inflammatory and immuno-modulatory responses. Our observation that miR-146a is up-regulated following TNF- α stimulation (Fig.3a) and that, in this condition, NF- κ B is the only main activator responsible of miR-146a promoter activation (Fig.7c), indicate a role of miR-146a in the modulation of the inflammatory response also in T lymphocytes.

Therefore, we have shown that at least two different signals drive miR-146a expression in Jurkat cells: TCR stimulation and inflammation (Fig.5). We demonstrated that these two signals use partially overlapping transcriptional mechanisms to induce miR-146a expression. In particular, NF- κ B, the main transcription factor activated by TNF- α during the inflammatory response, is the activator of miR-146a expression in the inflammatory context, while during TCR activation the contribution of both NF- κ B and c-ETS is indispensable.

The study of miR-146a molecular functions also represents a stimulating challenge ad so we aimed to elucidate the fine-tune regulation exerted by miR-146a in some important biological aspects of T cell immune response.

MiR-146a down-regulate FADD expression at posttranscriptional level as demonstrated by luciferase reporter assays performed using the 3'-UTR of FADD (Fig.8b). Moreover, miR-146a over expression in Jurkat cells determined a more activated status of cells, as revealed by a higher expression of CD69⁺ marker (Fig.9a), and a decrease of the apoptotic rate (Fig.9b). Notably, both of these phenotypes are consistent with a down-regulation of FADD.

For the first time, we have shown that other signaling pathways, apart from inflammation, are influenced by miR-146a modulation and function. Indeed, we provided experimental evidences that support a role for miR-146a in modulating AICD, through the down-regulation of FADD.

We also showed miR-146a involvement in other pathways related to T cell activation, in particular we demonstrated through luciferase assays that MAD4 and c-FOS are down-modulated by miR-146a (Fig.8a,8c).

MAD4 is a member of the MADs family, a negative regulator of MYC function ^{83,84} and it promotes differentiation and suppresses the development of cancer *in vivo* ⁸¹. Moreover, it was reported that in T lymphocytes MAD4 is down-regulated upon TCR stimulation⁷⁹. It

would be intriguing to unravel which is the contribution of MAD4 down-regulation to the phenotype of miR-146a over-expressing cells; this aspect will be further investigated in following studies.

We focused on c-FOS, being an interesting transcriptional factor, which modulate the expression of several cytokines, important for T cell differentiation. The luciferase assay validating it as a target of miR-146a (Fig.8c) is consistent with the observation that miR-146a overexpression impairs AP-1 activity after T cell activation (Fig.10)

This result was obtained using a luciferase reporter vector for AP-1 transfected in the lentiviral pRRL-146a Jurkat cells (see material and methods). An advantage of the experimental approach here adopted is that in pRRL-146a Jurkat cell line, the expression levels of miR-146a are not as elevated as in the case of transient transfection of the mimic-146a (about 700 fold; Supplementary. Fig.3), thus demonstrating that even a modest up-regulation of miR-146a (3 fold) is sufficient to exert its modulatory effect on AP-1 activity.

This work illustrated a framework of an intriguing scenario, in which miR-146a contributes to the modulation of T cell function by fine tuning complex signaling networks, delimiting the intensity and duration of such signaling.

A focus for future studies will be the elucidation of the molecular mechanism of miR-146a action, thereby demonstrating a direct correlation between FADD repression and AICD impairment, both mediated by miR-146a.

Moreover, it would be very interesting to analyze interleukins levels in stimulated Jurkat cells over-expressing miR-146a, according to the molecular phenotype associated with c-FOS down-regulation, being AP-1 heterodimer an important modulator of IL-2 expression ⁸⁰.

Therefore, many other questions regarding miR-146a still await answering. Understanding its functions in the complex molecular networks which orchestrate T cell immune response will contribute not only to a better comprehension of immune homeostasis but will identify novel targets for modulating immune response and inflammation in humans.

Supplemental Data



Suppl. Fig 1: Northern Blot: miR-146a expression in Jurkat cells stimulated with PMA (10ng/ml) and ionomycin $(1\mu g/ml)$ for different times.



Suppl. Fig2. NF-κB reporter activity is inhibited by CsA: Jurkat cells were transfected with a NF-κB reporter plasmid and the day after transfection they were treated for 30 minutes with CsA ($0,5\mu g/\mu l$) and then stimulated with α CD3 ($5\mu g/m l$) and α CD28 ($5\mu g/m l$) for 24h. The luciferase assay was performed 48h after transfection. Fold induction of stimulation were here illustrated compared with non induced reporter construct. Relative NF-κB reporter activity was assayed using a renilla/firefly-Luciferase Reporter Assay System. (p value< 0,05).



Suppl. Fig3. Mimic-146a transfected Jurkat cells over-expresses miR-146a Jurkat cells were transiently transfected with miR-146a mimic or with a scramble mimic. iR-146a levels were measured 48h after transfection by RT-qReal Time-PCR

Supplementary Table 1. List of oligonucleotides (*LNA bases are preceded by a "+" symbol)

RT-qPCR analysis

*PCR for LNA U6 5'-GCTTCGGCAGCACATATACT-3' **U6 template PCR** 5'-GCTTCGGCAGCACATATACTAAAATTGGAACGATACAGAG AAGATTAGCATGGCCC-3' PCR rev miR-146b 5'-CAGAGGTACGATAGTCAAGG mir-146b template PCR 5'-CAGAGGTACGATAGTCAAGGAGCCTATGGTTCAGTTCTCA-3' *PCR for LNA mir-146b 5'-T+GA+GAA+CTGAATTCCATA-3' RT miR-146b 5'- CAGAGGTACGATAGTCAAGGAGCCTATGG-3' PCR rev/ RT U6 5'-GAATTTGCGTGTCATCCTTG-3' PCR revmiR-146a AACAACGAGTGCTATGGAAT *PCR for LNA mir-146a 5'-T+GA+GA+ACTGAATTCCATG-3' PCR rev miR-146a 5'-TGAGAACTGAATTCCATGGGTT-3' miR-146a template PCR 5'AACAACGAGTGCTATGGAATAACCCATGGAATTCAGTTCTCA-3' MAD4-pcrFOR 5'-ACAACAGGTCTTCACACAAC-3' MAD4 pcrREV CTCCTCCAGTTTCTTGATG-3' FADD pcr FOR 5'-TGCGGGAGTCACTGAGAATC-3' FADD pcr REV 5'-CAGCCACCAGGTTCATCTG-3' FOS pcrFOR 5'-AGCGGAGACAGACCAACTAG-3' FOS per REV

5'-GCTGCCAGGATGAACTCTAG-3'

3'UTR luciferase assays

FADDutrFOR 5'- GCGCGCTCTAGAGGACCACAGGCATCTACACA-3' FADDutrREV 5'-GCGCGCGAGAGGAGACTCAACTCACA-3' FADD mut FOR 5'-CTAGAGGACCACAGGCATCTACACAAGATATCCTTTGGTTCTCTCAGGAAG GTACC-3' FADD mut REV 5'-GCTACCTTCCTGGAGAGAACCAAAGGATATCTTGTGTAGATCCTGTGGTCCT CTAG-3' MAD4utrFOR 5'-GCGCGCTCTAGATGCCTGCCCGCCAGCCAC-3' MAD4utrREV 5'-GCGCGCCTCACCCAGTTCCCGCCCTT-3' MAD4 mut FOR 5'-CAGCCACGCGTGTCAGCCCTCCGCCATGGCTTCAGTTGACGCCA-3' MAD4 mut REV 5'-GAGAGGCTGGCGTCAACTGAAGCCATGGCGGAGGGCTGACACGCGTGGCTG-3' **IRAK1utrFOR** 5'-GCGCGCTCTAGAGTTCACCTGGGCAGATCC-3' **IRAK1utrREV** 5'-GCGCGCGATGATGCCAGCCTTCCT-3' FOS mut FOR 5'-GAGGTGGTCTGAATGTTCTGACATTAATCCATGAAAACGTT-3' FOS mut REV 5'-AACGTTTTCATGGATTAATGTCAGAACATTCAGACCACCTC-3' GAPDH FOR 5'-GAAATCCCATCACCATCTTCCAGG-3' GAPDH REV 5'-GAGGCCCAGCCTTCTCCATG-3'

Northern oligonucleotides

northern marker miR-146a 5'-TGAGAACTGAATTCCATGGGTT-3' northern probe miR-146a 5'-AATTCAGTTCTCA-3' northern probe U6 5'-AGTATATGTGCTGCCGAAGC-3'

MiR-146a promoter luciferase assays

NFKB1 mut rev 5'-CCCTCTCTGGAAAGTGGTTTCTAGATCCCTCCTCGGC-3' NFKB1 mut for 5'-GCCGAGGAGGGATCTAGAAACCACTTTCCAGAGAGGGG-3' ETS mut for 5'-GCGGAGAGTACAGACGCCTGGGGACCCAGC-3' ETS mut rev 5'-GCTGGGTCCCCAGGCGTCTGTACTCTCCGC-3' NFKB mut for 5'-AGCCGATAAAGCTCTCACCATTTCCCCGCGGGGC-3'

NFKB2 mut rev 5'-GCCCCGCGGGGAAATGGTGAGAGCTTTATCGGCT-3' USF mut for 5'-AGGAAGATTTCTCAGTGTTCCAAGTGCCAGGTCAGTTTACAGTTC-3' USF mut rev 5'-GAACTGTAAACTGACCTGGCACTTGGAACACTGAGAAATCTTCCT-3'

Seq luc for

5'-GTGGATTACGTCGCCAGTC-3'

	validated target						
	interleukin-1 receptor complex, transmembrane receptor protein serine/threonine kinase signaling pathway, signal transduction, transcriptional activator activity, protein annio acid autophosphorylation, positive regutation of transcription, NI-LappaB-inducing kinase activity , protein serine/threonine kinase activity, magnesium ion binding, trasferase activity, activation of NF-kappaB-inducing kinase.	negative regulation of cell proliferation, protein binding, negative regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter, nucleus, DNA binding	negative regulation of cell proliferation, SMAD protein heteromerization, transcription cofactor activity, DNA- dependent, transcription, cytoplasm, protein binding, positive regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter	transcription coactivator activity.regulation of transcription from RNA polymerase II promoter, zinc ion binding, metal ion binding	transcription corepressor activity, T cell differentiation , cytoplasm, B cell differentiation, hemopoiesis, zinc ion binding, nucleic acid binding, metal ion binding	transcription factor complex, RNA polymerase II transcription factor activity, mucrophage differentiation, sequence-specific DNA binding,	
	Interleukin-1 receptor-associated kinase 1 (IRAK-1),		Mothers against decapentaplegic homolog 4 (SMAD 4)	Krueppel-like factor 7 (Ubiquitous krueppel-like factor).	B-cell lymphoma/leukemia 11A (B- cell CLL/ymphoma 11A)	Transcription factor Spi-B.	
	IRAK1	MXD4	SMAD4	KLF7	BCL11A	SPIB	
part1	miRanda (miRbase) TargetScan	PicTar, TargetScan	PicTar, TargetScan	miRanda (miRbase), PicTar, TargetScan	TargetScan, PicTar	miRanda (miRbase), Pictar, Targetscan	

Supplementary Table2a. predicted targets cloned for 3'UTR luciferase assays

part2				
miRanda (miRbase), PicTar	MAX isoform c	Protein max (Myc-associated factor X).	protein binding, regulation of transcription.	
miRanda (miRBase)	BCL6	B-cell lymphoma 6 protein (BCL-6) (Zinc finger protein 51) (LAZ-3 protein) (BCL-5)	transcriptional repressor activity, inflammatory response, mediator complex, spermatogenesis, negative regulation of apoptosis, protein binding, positive regulation of cell proliferation, inhibition th2 cells differentiation and gata3 expression	
PicTar, TargetScan	ZDHHC 17	Hypermethylated in cancer 2 protein (Hic-2) (Hic-3) (Zinc finger and BTB domain-containing protein 30)	lipoprotein transport, protein-cysteine S-palmitoleyltransfenase activity, transfenase activity, acyltransferase activity, signal transducer activity, positive regulation of 1-kappaB kinase/NF-kappaB caseade , protein binding integral to membrane, protein palmitoylation	
PicTar	OTUD7B (CEZAN NE)	Zinc finger A20 domain-containing protein 1 (Cellular zinc finger anti- NF-kappa B protein) (Zinc finger protein Cezanne).	cysteine-type peptidase activity, DNA binding, negative regulation of 1-kappaB kinase/NF-kappaB cascade , cytoplasm, ubiquitin cycle, protein binding, nucleus, zinc ion binding, metal ion binding	
PicTar, TargetScan	IRF9 , RNF31	Transcriptional regulator ISGF3 subunit gamma (Interferon regulatory factor 9) (IRP-9) (IFN- alpha-responsive transcription factor subunit)	cytosol, protein binding internal side of plasma membrane, intracellular, zinc ion binding, metal ion binding	

Supplementary Table2b .predicted targets cloned for 3'UTR luciferase assays

Sup	picm	ciită	ily lat	1020	. preu	ICIC	a targets e	<u>u 101 5</u>	x incluse a	55a y.
	The protein encoded by this gene contains a RING finger motif and acts as a transcription regulator.		intracellular, regulation of transcription, peripheral nervous system development, neuromuscular synaptic transmission, circadian rhythm, transcription factor activity, zinc ion binding, metal ion binding, muscle development				intracellular protein transport, protein binding. Golgi apparatus, protein transport, small GTPase mediated signal transduction, GTP binding, membrane, nucleotide binding	internal protein amino acid acetylation, ribosome binding, intracellular, N-terminal protein amino acid acetylation, transferase activity, N-acetyltransferase activity, DNA packaging, acyttransferase activity, cytoplasm, peptide alpha-N-acetyltransferase activity, protein binding, nucleus, chromosome organization and biogenesis (sensu Eukaryota)	protein binding. release of sequestered calcium ion into cytosol, protein serine/threonine kinase activity, TCR signaling	
	RING FINGER PROTIEN 4		Early growth response protein 3 (EGR-3)		ETS translocation variant 5 (Ets-related protein ERM).		PHD finger protein 20-like 1 (PHF20L1), transcript variant 1, mRNA	Phosphatidylinositol-4- phosphate 5-kinase type-2 beta	Proto-oncogene tyrosine- protein kinase LCK (p56-LCK) (Lymphocyte cell-specific protein-tyrosine kinase) (T cell- specific protein-tyrosine kinase).	
	RNF4		EGR3		ETV5 (ERM)		RAB10	PIP5K2 B	ГСК	
part3	TargetScan		PicTar, TargetScan		miRanda (miRBase)		PicTar, miRanda (miRBase), TargetScan	PicTar,T argetScan	miRanda (miRbase)	

Supplementary Table2c. predicted targets cloned for 3'UTR luciferase assays

		•				 	
					validated target		
	auti-apoptosis		immune response, cell-cell signaling, induction of apoptosis, tumor necrosis factor receptor binding, positive regulation of LkappaB kinase/NF-kappaB cascade, signal transduction, extracellular space, soluble fraction, integral to plasma membrane, membrane, zinc ion binding, metal ion binding	cell differentiation, cell-cell signaling, ephrin receptor binding, protein binding, integral to membrane, lymph vessel development, plasma membrane, organ morphogenesis, integral to plasma membrane, nervous system development, morphogenesis	G-protein coupled receptor protein signaling pathway, germ cell development, neuron migration, patterning of blood vessels, T cell proliferation , germ cell migration, puninergio nucleotide receptor activity, G-protein coupled, integral to membrane, ameboidal cell migration, neeppor activity, C-C chemokine receptor activity, regulation of cell migration, C-X-C chemokine receptor activity, growth cone, signal transduction, brain development, thodopsin-like receptor activity, motor axon guidance	protein-lysine 6-oxidase activity, copper ion binding, protein binding, signal transduction, extracellular space, cellular defense response, extracellular matrix (sensu Metazoa), scavenger receptor activity, cell adhesion, membrane	
	tumor necrosis factor, alpha- induced protein 8		FADD protein (FAS-associating death domain-containing protein) (Meditator of receptor induced toxicity)	Ephrin-B2 precursor (EPH-related receptor tyrosine kinase ligand 5) (LERK-5)	C-X-C chemokine receptor type 4 (CXC-R4) (CXC-R4) (Stromal cell- derived factor 1 receptor) (SDF-1 receptor) (CD184 antigen).	CD180 antigen precursor (Lymphocyte antigen 64) (Radioprotective 105 kDa protein)	
	TNFAIP 8		FADD	EFNB2	CXCR4	CD180	
part4	miRanda (miRbase)		miRanda (miRbase)	PicTar, TargetScan	miRanda (miRbase)	miRanda (miRbase)	

Supplementary Table2d. predicted targets cloned for 3'UTR luciferase assays

References

- 1. Chalfie M, Horvitz HR, Sulston JE. (1981).Mutation that leads to reiterations in the cell lineages of *C.elegans. Cell* **24**: 59-69.
- Lee RC, Feinbaum RL, Ambros V.(1993). The *C.elegans* heterochronic gene lin-4 encodes small RNAs with antisense complementarity to lin-14. *Cell* 75: 843-854.
- 3. Wightman B,Ha L,Ruvkun G. (1993). Posttranscriptional regulation of th heterochronic gene lin-14 mediates temporal pattern formation in *C.elegans. Cell* **75**: 855-862.
- 4. Reinhart B, Slack FJ, Basson M,Pasquinelli E, Bettinger JC, Rougyie Ae, Horvitz HR and Ruvkun G (2000). The 21-nucleotide let-7 RN rgultes developmental timing in Caenorhabditis elegans. *Nature* **403**: 901-906
- 5. Cullen BR.(2004) Transcription and processing of human microRNA precursors. *Mol Cell* **16**: 861-865
- 6. Zeng Y, Cullen BR. (2006). Recognition and cleavage of primary microRNA transcripts. *Methods Mol. Biol.* **342**: 49-56.
- 7. Bartel DP. (2004) MicroRNAs: genomics, biogenesis, mechanism, and function. *Cell*.116: 281-297
- 8. Lewis BP, Shih IH, Jones-Rhoades MW, Bartel DP, Burge CB. (2003). Prediction of mammalian microRNA targets. *Cell* **115**:787-798.
- Didiano D and Hobert O (2006). Perfect seed pairing is not a generally reliable predictor for miRNA-target interactions. *Nat.Struct.Mol.Biol.* (13): 849-851
- Krek A, Grün D, Poy MN, Wolf R, Rosenberg L, Epstein EJ, MacMenamin P, da Piedade I, Gunsalus KC, Stoffel M and Rajewsky N. (2005) Combinatorial microRNA target predictions. *Nature Genetics* 37: 495 - 500
- 11. Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP. (2005). Conserved seed pairing, often flanked by adenosines, indicates that thousands of human genes are microRNA targets. *Cell* **120**: 15-20.
- Cimmino A, Calin GA, Fabbri M, Iorio MV, Ferracin M, Shimizu M et al. (2005) MiR-15 and miR-16 induce apoptosis by targeting BCL2. *Proc. Natl Acad. Sci. USA* 102: 13944-13949.
- 13. Cheng AM, Byrom MW, Shelton J, Ford LP. Antisense inhibition of human miRNAs and indications for an involvement of miRNA in cell gowth and apoptosis. 2005. *Nuclei Acids Res.***33**: 1290-1297
- 14. Chen JF, Mandel FM, Thomson JM, Wu Q, Callis TE, Hammond SM, et al. (2006). The role of microRNA-1 and micro-RNA 133 in skeletal muscle proliferation and differentiation. *Nat. Genetics* **38**: 228-233

- Lagos-Quintana M, Rauhut R, Yalcin A, Meyer J, Lendeckel W, Tuschl T. (2002). Identification of tissue-specific microRNA from mouse. *Curr Biol.* 12: 735-739
- Fazi F, Rosa A, Fatica A, Gelmetti V, De Marchis ML, Nervi C, et al. (2005) A minicircuitry comprised of microRNA-223 and transcription factors NF-IA and C/EBPalpha regulates human granulopoiesis. *Cell.* 123: 819-831
- Volinia , Calin GA, Liu CG, Ambs S, Cimmino A, Petrocca F et al. (2006). A microRNA expression segnature o human solid tumors defines cancer gene targets. *Proc. Natl. Acad.Sci USA* 103: 2257-2261
- Monticelli S, Ansel KM, Xiao C, Socci ND, Krichevsky AM, Thai TH et al. (2005) MicroRNA profiling of the murine hematopoietic system. *Genome Biol.* 6: R71
- 19. Chen CZ, Li L, Lodish HF, Bartel DP.(2004) MicroRNA modulate hematopoietic lineage differentiation. *Science* **303**: 83-86
- 20. Cobb BS, et al. (2006) A role for Dicer in immune regulation. J. Exp. Med. 203: 2519–2527
- Muljo SA, Ansel KM, Kanellopoulou C, Livingston DM, Rao A, Rajewsky K. (2005). Aberrant T cell differentiation in the absence of the Dicer. J. Exp. Med. 202: 261-269
- 22. Li QJ et al. (2007) MiR-181 is an intrinsic modulator of T cell sensitivity and selection. *Cell* **129**: 147-161
- Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Chang KJ, Baltimore D. (2006). NF-kappa Bdependent induction of microRNA miR-146, an inhibitor targeted to signalling proteins of innate immune response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 103: 12481-12486
- 24. O'Connell RM, Taganov KD, Boldin MP, Cheng G, Baltimore D.(2007). Micro-RNA 155 is induced during the macrophage inflammatory response. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* **104**: 1604-1609
- Wu, L. C., Tuot, D. S., Lyons, D. S., Garcia, K. C. & Davis, M. M. (2002) Two-step binding mechanism for T-cell receptor recognition of peptide– MHC. *Nature* 418: 552-556
- 26. Acuto and Michel. (2003) CD28-mediated co-stimulation: A quantitative support for TCR signalling, *Nat. Rev. Immunol:* **3** 939–951
- Ghaffari-Tabrizi N, Bauer B, Altman A, Utermann G, Uberall F, Baier G. (1999) Protein kinase Cθ a selective upstream regulator of JNK/SAPK and IL-2 promoter activation in Jurkat T cells *Eur J Immunol* 29:132–142
- Coudronniere N, Villalba M, Englund N. and Altman A. (2000) NF-κB activation induced by T cell receptor/CD28 costimulation is mediated by protein kinase Cθ. *PNAS* 97: 3394-3399
- Pfeifhofer C, Kofler K, GruberT, Ghaffari Tabrizi N, Lutz C, Maly K, Leitges M, and Baier G. (2003) Protein Kinase Cθ affects Ca²⁺

mobilization and NFAT activation in primary mouse T cells *J Exp Med.* **197 (11):** 1525–1535

- 30. Gillis, S. & Smith, K.A. (1977). Long term culture of tumour-specific cytotoxic T cells. *Nature* **268**, 154–156.
- 31. Kneitz B, Hermann T, Yonehara S, Schimpl A. (1995).Normal clonal expansion but impaired Fas-mediated cell death and anergy induction in interleukin-2 deficient mice*Eur. J. immunol.***25**: 2572-2577
- 32. Abraham RT, and Weiss (2004) Jurkat T cells and development of the T cell receptor signalling paradigm *Nature Reviews Immunology* **4**: 301-308
- 33. Lin JX and Leonard WJ (1997) Signaling from the IL-2 receptor to the nucleus. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* **8**: 313–332
- 34. Mitchell RN and Cotrans RS (2003). Acute and Chronic Inflammation. Robbins Bsic Pathology. Saunders, Philadelphia,USA
- 35. Opal SM and DePalo VA (2000). Anti-inflammatory cytokines. *Chest* 117:162-117
- 36. O'Shea J, Ma A. and Lipsky P. (2002) Cytokine and Autoimmunity. *Nature Reviews Immunology* **2**: 37-45
- Curfs, J. H.; Meis, J. F. and Hoogkamp-Korstanje, J. A. (1997). A primer on cytokines: sources, receptors, effects, and inducers. *Clinical Microb Reviews* 10: 742-780
- 38. Wang, P., P. Wu, M. I. Siegel, R. W. Egan, and M. M. Biillah (1995). Interleukin (IL)-10 inhibits nuclear factor kB (NFkB) activation in human monocytes. J. Biol. Chem. 270:9558–9563
- 39. Baeuerle P.A. and Henkel T. (1994) Function and activation of NF-kappa B in the immune system *Annu. Rev. Immunol.* **12**:141–179.
- 40. Kawai, T. & Akira, S. Signaling to NF-κB by Toll-like receptors. (2007). Trends Mol. Med. **13:** 460–469
- 41. Ting AY and Endy D. Decoding NF-kb signalling. (2002). Science 298: 1189-1190
- Lawrence T, Gilroy DW, Colville-Nash PR and Willoughby DA. (2001). Possible new role for NFkB in the resolution of inflammation. Nature 7: 12911297
- 43. Cameron JE, Yin Q, Fewell C, Lacey M, McBride J, Wang X, Lin Z, Schaefer BC and Flemington EK. (2008) Epstein-Barr Virus Latent Membrane Protein 1 Induces Cellular MicroRNA miR-146a, a Modulator of Lymphocyte Signaling Pathways. *J Virol.* **82(4)**: 1946-1958
- 44. Cresswell P. Proteases, processing and thymic selection. (1998). Am. Assoc Advanc Sci 280: 394-395
- 45. Allen PM. (1994). Peptides in positive and negative selection: a delicate balance. *Cell* **76**: 503-596
- Krammer PH, Behrmann I, Daniel P, Dhein J and Debatin KM. (1994) Regulation of apoptosis in the immune system. *Curr. Opin. Immunology* 6: 279-289

- 47. Green DR, Pinkoski M. (2003). Activation-induced cell death in T cells..*Immunol. Rev.*193: 70-81
- 48. Nagata S, Suda T. (1995). Fas and Fas ligand: Ipr and gld mutations. *Immunol Today*. **16**:39-43
- 49. Nagata S, Golstein P. (1995). The Fas death factor. *Science*. 267: 1449-1456
- 50. Krammer PH. (2005). CD95's deadly mission in the immune system. *Nature* **407**: 789-795
- 51. Zheng L et al. (1995). Induction of apoptosis in mature T cells by Tumor necrosis factor.*Nature* **377**: 348-351
- 52. Holler N et al. (2000). Fas triggers an alterntive, caspase-8 independent cel death pathway using the kinase RIP as effector molecule. *Nature Immuology* 1: 489-495
- 53. Fisher GH, Rosenberg FJ, Strauss SE, et al. (1995). Dominant interfering *fas* gene mutations impair apoptosis in a human autoimmune lymphoproliferative syndrome. *Cell* **81**:935-946
- Chinnaiyan AM, O'Rourke K, Tewari M, & Dixit VM. (1995). FADD, a novel death domain-containing protein, interacts with the death domain of Fas and initiates apoptosis. *Cell* 81: 505-512
- 55. Peter ME and Krammer PH. .(2003). The CD95 (APO-1/Fas) DISC and beyond. *Cell Death and Differentiation* **10**: 26-35
- 56. Tome M and Tschopp J. (2001) Regulation of lymphocyte proliferation and death by Flip.. *Nature* 1:50-58
- 57. Chwae YJ, Chang MJ, Park SM, Yoon H, Park HJ, Kim SJ and Kim J. (2002) Molecular mechanism of the Activation-Induced Cell Death Inhibition medited by a p70 inhibitory killer cell Ig-like receptor in Jurkat T cells. *Journal of Immunology* 169: 3726-3735
- Zhang J, Cado D, Chen A, Kabra NH, Wiinoto A. (1998). Fas-mediated apoptosis and activation-induced T-cell proliferation are defective in mice lacking FADD/Mort1. *Nature* 392: 296-300
- Chen G, Bhojani MS, Heaford AC, Chang DC, Laxman B, Thomas DG, Griffin LB (2005) Phosphorylated FADD induces NF-κB, perturbs cell cycle, and is associated with poor outcome in lung adenocarcinomas *P.N.A.S.* **102(35):** 12507–12512.
- 60. Alappat E, Feig C, Boyerinas B, Volkland J, Samuels M, Murmann A, Thorburn A, Kidd VJ, Slaughter C, Osborn SL, Winoto A, Tang WJ, Peter ME. (2005) Phosphorilation of FADD at Serine 194 by CKIα regulates its non apoptotic activities. *Molecular Cell* 19: 321-332
- 61. Walsh CM et al. (1998). A role for FADD in T cell activation and development. *Immunity* **8**: 439-449
- 62. Zhang J, Kabra NH, Cado D, Kang C and Winoto A. (2001). FADDdeficient T cells exhibit a disaccord in regulation of the cell cycle machinery. *Journal of Biological Chemistry* **276**: 29815-29818

- 63. Newton K, Harris AW, Bath ML, Smith KGC, Strasser A. (1998) A dominant interfering mutant of FADD/MORT1 enhances deletion of autoreactive thymocytes and inhibits proliferation of mature T lymphocytes. *EMBO J.* **17**: 706-718
- 64. Kabra NH, Kang C, Hsing LC, Zhang J and Winoto a (2001). *PNAS USA* **98**: 6307-6312
- 65. Brennecke J, Hipfner DR, Stark A, Russell RB, Cohen SM. (2003) *Bantam* encodes a developmentally regulated microRNA that controls cell proliferation and regulates the proapoptotic gene *hid*. *Cell* **113**: 25-36
- 66. Xu P, Vernooy SY, Guo M, Hay BA. (2003)The Drosophila microRNA miR-14 suppresses cell death and is required for normal fat metabolism. *Curr. Biol*.13: 790-795
- 67. Cheng AM, Byrom MW, Shelton J, Ford LP. (2005) Antisense inhibition of human miRNAs and indications for an involvement of miRNA in cell gowth and apoptosis. *Nuclei Acids Res.***33**: 1290-1297
- Frankel LB, Christoffersen R, Jacobsen A, Lindow M, Krogh A, Lund AH. (2008) Programmed cell death 4 (PDCD4) is an important functional target of the microRNA miR-21 in breast cancer cells *J. Biol. Chem.* 283: 1026-1033
- 69. Mott JL, Kobayashi S, Bronk S, Gores GJ. (2007) MiR-29 regulates Mcl-1 protein expression and apoptosis. *Oncogene* **26**: 6133-6140
- Raymond CK, Roberts BS, Garrett-Engele P, Lim LP, Johnson JM. (2005) Simple, quantitative primer-extension PCR assay for direct monitoring of microRNAs and short-interfering RNAs. *RNA* 11:1737–1744
- Huffnagle GB, Lipscomb MF, Lovchik JA, Hoag KA and Street NE (1994) The role of CD4+ and Cd8+ T cells in the protective inflammatory response to a cryptococcal infection *Journal of Leukocyte Biology*. 55: 1 35-42
- 72. Zachariadis O, Cassidy JP, Brady J, Mahon BP (2006) γδ T cells regulate the early inflammatory response to *Bordetella pertussis* infection in the murine respiratory tract. *Infection and Immunità* **74 (03)** . 1837-1845
- 73. Dumont FJ, Staruch MJ, Fischer P, DaSilva C, Camacho R. (1998) Inhibition of T cell activation by pharmacologic disruption of the MEK1/ERK MAP kinase or Calcineurin Signaling pathways results in differential modulation of cytokine production. *Journal of Immunology* 160: 2579-2589
- 74. PicTar is available on line at http://pictar.mdc-berlin.de/cgibin/PicTar_vertebrate.cgi
- Lewis BP, Burge CB, Bartel DP. (2005) Conserved Seed Pairing, Often Flanked by Adenosines, Indicates that Thousands of Human Genes are MicroRNA Targets. *Cell* 120: 15-20
- 76. TargetScan is available on line at http://www.targetscan.org

- 77. John B, Enright AJ, Aravin A, Tuschl T, Sander C and Marks DS (2004) Human microRNA targets *PLOS Biol* (2)11: e363
- 78. MiRanda target predictions can be found at http://www.microrna.org
- 79. Lu B, Zagouras P, Fischer JE, Lu J, Ll B and Flavell RA (2003) Kinetic analysis of genomewide gene expression reveals molecule circuitries that control T activation and Th1/2 differentiation. *PNAS* (101) 9:3023-3028
- 80. Curran T, Franza BR Jr (1988) Fos and Jun: the AP-1 connection. Cell 55(3):395-7.
- 81. Hai-Jing Sun, Xin Xu, Xiu-Li Wang, Liang Wei, Fen Li, Jun Lu, and Bai-Qu Huang. (2006). Transcription Factors Ets2 and Sp1 Act Synergistically with Histone Acetyltransferase p300 in Activating Human Interleukin-12 p40 Promoter. *Acta Biochimica et Biophysica Sinica*38(3): 194-200
- Blumenthal SG, Aichele GG, With T, Czernilofsky AP, Nordheim A and Dittmer J. (1999). *The Journal of Biological Chemistry* 274 (18): 12910– 12916
- 83. Hurlin PJ, Quéva C, Koskinen PJ, Steingrímsson E, Ayer DE, Copeland NG, Jenkins NA, and Eisenman RN (1995). Mad3 and Mad4: novel Maxinteracting transcriptional repressors that suppress c-myc dependent transformation and are expressed during neural and epidermal differentiation. *EMBO J.* **14**(22): 5646–5659.
- Hua ZHAO and Yong Hua XU (1999) Mad-overexpression down regulate the malignant growth and p53 mediated apoptosis in human hepatocellular carcinoma BEL-7404 cells. *Cell Research* 9: 51–59

Acknowledgements

I would thank Prof.Giuseppe Macino for helpful suggestions and for supporting me during my PhD and Dr.Franca Citarella for having given an important contribution to the whole project

I thank our collaborators, the members of Prof. V. Barnaba's group who provided primary T cells for profiling analysis.

Finally I would thank all the people of the Macino's lab, for support and friendship, in particular Marina Goldoni, Nicoletta Carucci, Gianluca Azzalin, Claudia Carissimi, Valerio Fulci, Teresa Colombo, Gina Scappucci and Katia Broccoletti.